FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
10/10/2024 3:07 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/10/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1035349

Supreme Court No			
Court of Appeal Cause No. 59348-3-II			
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON			
PAULA. GOETSCH,			
Respondent,			
v.			
DAVID ALLEN,			
Appellants,			
PETITION FOR REVIEW			

 $\textbf{WATHEN} \,|\, \textbf{LEID} \,|\, \textbf{HALL} \,|\, \textbf{RIDER}, \textbf{PC}$

Rick J Wathen, WSBA #25539 William L. Weber III, WSBA #28867

Attorneys for David Allen

222 Etruria Street Seattle, WA 98109

Telephone: (206) 622.0494

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER1
II.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1

I. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY

David Allen, the defendant in the trial court and the respondent in the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to grant the petition for review of the Court of Appeals decision identified in part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its decision on September 10, 2024. (A copy of the unpublished opinion is attached as Appendix A.) Oral argument was not permitted by the Court of Appeals.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The Court of Appeals decision to broaden the exception to "no duty for an open and obvious condition" exposes every property owner to liability when a contractor is hired to work on their premises, when the contractor is the professional and in a better position to assess dangers. Review is warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- 2. The Court of Appeals decision to construct an inference from facts not in the record goes against public policy and

centuries of jurisprudence. Review is warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Overview

This lawsuit attempts to impose liability on a landowner for an injury caused by the Appellant's gain of momentum while walking down a sloping side yard. At all times, the conditions were open and obvious to the Appellant, Mr. Goetsch. The Petioner, Mr. Allen hired Mr. Goetsch to perform electrical work on his property. While doing that work, Mr. Goetsch gained momentum while going down a rounded descent on the side yard of Mr. Allen's property. When Mr. Goetsch tried to slow down, he grabbed a door frame to slow his momentum. He completed the work on the Allen property and didn't seek any treatment for any claimed injuries for one to two months later.

Mr. Goetsch concedes that at all times material, the condition of the "rounded decent" was open and obvious. It is well established, and the Court of Appeals agrees, that a

landowner is not liable for open and obvious conditions on the landowner's premises. There is an exception to this general rule. In order to avail himself of this exception, Appellant needed to establish three elements: (1) that Mr. Allen knew the condition created an unreasonable risk of harm, (2) that Mr. Allen should expect that Mr. Goetsch would not discover the risk or that he would fail to protect himself from the risk, and (3) that Mr. Allen failed to exercise reasonable care to protect Mr. Goetsch from the danger.

On summary judgment, this required Mr. Goetsch to present evidence creating an issue of fact on each one of these elements. He failed to do so. Goetsch failed to present evidence indicating that his only alternative was to either expose himself to the dangerous condition or forgo taking the job. The trial court correctly ruled in favor of Mr. Allen. The Court of Appeals incorrectly inferred that "Allen had reason to expect Goetsch would choose to encounter the presumed danger posed by the hill because Goetsch wanted to finish the job and get paid". The

record does not provide any factual basis to support such an inference.

B. Background of Condition

Mr. Allen retained Mr. Goetsch, an independent thirdparty electrician, to perform electrical work at his premises. At least one day before the alleged incident, Mr. Goetsch came to the site, walked around, and went down the side yard in question. CP 28, page 15, lines 2-17. Mr. Goetsch traversed the side yard maybe twice before the incident. CP 32- 33, deposition page 33, line 25 – deposition page 34, lines 1-4. Mr. Goetsch described the area as a "rounded decent" and that the area was bare, dry, and not much vegetation. CP 28, page 16, lines 10-12. On the day of the incident, the weather was warm and dry. CP 28, page 14, lines 8-11. And, at all times material, Mr. Goetsch was able to clearly and visibly see the area in question. CP 28, page 17, lines 2-8.

C. Incident

Mr. Goetsch's full description of the event can be found at CP 30, page 24 line 4 – CP 32, page 30, line 6. On that day, Mr. Goetsch was carrying a heavy drill. As per his own words, while going down the rounded decent, Mr. Goetsch testified:

Q. Okay. Now why don't you describe for me in your own words what happened on the day of the accident?

A. I was carrying my drill. It's a heavy drill. I was carrying both hands. And I was taking — going down the hill, but taking kind of baby steps, you know how you kind of shuffled forward to not — because you can't take a stride down this hill. And I was taking baby steps down there. And as I got closer I had planned to — you can see the door stands outward. I was planning on, you know, as I got closer to reach out, grab the door, stopping my descent and pulling myself over towards the opening. Do you want me to go on?

CP 30, Goetsch Deposition, page 24 lines 4- 15.

Q. Okay. And you said you were using both hands to carry that. Why were you using both hands?

A. To kind of keep the weight of the drill in the center of my body so that it wasn't throwing me to the left or right.

Q. Okay. Were you concerned about your speed descending down that hill? Is that why you were saying you were going to grab on to the door once you got to the bottom?

A. Yes. Yes.

19.

Q. And tell me in your own words what happened then.

A. Well, as I was getting closer my body was starting to not keep up with -- I just -- my baby steps were becoming freakishly a little bit faster. I reached out, grabbed the door intending to stop myself, and my body weight kept going. My arms stretched out. I kind of heard something. And I couldn't -- I couldn't stop my forward momentum, so I had to let go. I threw the drill off to the left of me and at that point I don't remember so much. I think I went into a summersault at that point and ended up on my back 4 or 5 feet below the house there.

Q. Okay. And to back up a little bit here, did Mr. Allen ever tell you these are the kinds of tools that you need to use to complete your work?

A. No.

CP 30, Goetsch Deposition, page 25, lines 18 – page 26, line

- Q. Mr. Goetsch, I just want to make sure that I'm understanding the mechanism of how this accident occurred. And you testified earlier -- and, correct me if I'm wrong at any point -- that you were taking baby steps down the hillside and then your momentum sped up to the point that caused you to lose control; is that correct?
- A. Starting to. But that's when I reached out and grabbed the door. But couldn't stop myself.
- Q. Okay. And this wasn't a situation where the ground underneath you slid away, is that -- I'm

drawing a distinction between the ground sliding versus your momentum just sped up and that caused you to reach out?

- A. Yes. Yes.
- Q. So it is the momentum?
- A. Yes. Yes.

CP 36, Goetsch Deposition, page 48, lines 4-19.

The "rounded descent" was not Mr. Goetsch's only route of access. He could have gone around the house on the other side. CP 28, page 17, lines 10-17.

The appellant makes note that stairs were installed after this event.¹ The stairs were installed as part of the finished landscaping at the end of the project. CP 69, lines 16-25.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Exception to No Duty When Condition Is Open and Obvious Should Not Be Broadened Here

The Supreme Court should accept review of this matter because the Court of Appeals bases its decision on one Division II case (*Mihaila*) with case specific facts in the record that can be

¹ This evidence should not be considered as evidence pursuant to ER 407.

decision here is based on supposition alone. The Court of Appeals decision here is based on supposition alone. The Court of Appeals was not permitted to draw an inference without a factual basis in the record such as an affidavit. That affidavit does not raise a genuine issue of fact unless it sets forth facts evidentiary in nature, i.e., information as to what took place, an act, an incident, a reality as distinguished from supposition or opinion. *Snohomish County v Rugg*, 115 Wn.App. 218, 224, 61 P.3d 1184 (2002). Here, there is no affidavit from Goetsch that he would choose to encounter the danger because he wanted to finish the job and get paid. The Court of Appeals manufactured the idea that Goestch felt this way.

Mr. Goetsch's status as a business invitee is undisputed. Even so, Washington is clear and unambiguous. Landowners have no duty to warn of open and obvious conditions. *Musci v. Graoch Assocs Ltd. P'ship No. 12*, 144 Wn.2d 847, 860 31 P.3d 684 (2001); Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343A(1). In order to avoid summary dismissal, Mr. Goetsch was required to present

evidence creating a genuine issue of material fact on three elements: (1) the landowner knows of a condition that creates an unreasonable risk of harm; (2) should expect the invitees would not discover the danger or would fail to protect themselves from it; and (3) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect invitees against the danger. Kamla v. Space Needle Corp., 147 Wash. 2d 114, 125-26, 52 P.3d 472 (2002). A landowner is not liable for alleged dangers if the danger is known or obvious. *Iwai v. State*, 129 Wash. 2d 84, 94, 915 P.2d 1089 (1996), citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343A at 218. In this case, Mr. Goetsch failed to present evidence of the threshold element, i.e. dangerous condition. He did not offer any expert testimony or other admissible evidence indicating that the rounded decent is a dangerous condition. For this reason alone, the trial court's dismissal was correct.

Mr. Goetsch and the Court of Appeals failed to address the decision of *McDonald v. Cove to Clover*, 180 Wash. App. 1, 7, 321 P. 3d 259 (2014) citied by Mr. Allen on summary

judgment. In McDonald, the plaintiff slipped on wet grass on a slope at a concert venue. *Id.* at 3. The court examined whether wet grass on a slope constituted a dangerous condition and whether the landowner would foresee that an invitee would fail to protect themselves against the obvious danger. *Id.* at 6. The court noted that there is no published Washington decision or elsewhere that wet grass is a dangerous condition. *Id.* Summary dismissal was granted. Likewise, in this case, Mr. Goetsch has failed to present evidence or cite to a Washington case or elsewhere that has held a "rounded descent" was a dangerous condition that a landowner should expect an invitee to fail to protect themselves against. Just as in McDonald, summary judgment was appropriate in this case.

Regardless of whether or not the slopping area is a "dangerous condition", at all times material, Mr. Goetsch knew of the condition. He had traversed the same area twice before. He did not trip or slide as a result of any condition on the property. Per his own testimony he gained momentum walking

down the side yard while carrying his heavy drill. There was no evidence presented of any impairment or special needs indicating that Mr. Goetsch was not able to fully appreciate the area he traversed or that Mr. Allen was aware he would traverse that area with a heavy drill altering his balance.

B. In Order to Find an Inference, the Court of Appeals Must Find a Factual Basis in the Record.

The Supreme Court should accept review of this matter because public policy demands the longstanding history of landowner's duty to invitees be maintained. Expanding the exception to the general rule that a landowner owes no duty to invitees for open and obvious conditions, such that virtually all landowners will be liable for contractors injured on their premises, regardless of whether the condition was open and obvious, will have far reaching deleterious consequences. It will flip the obligation for safety from the trained and experienced professional's unfairly to the homeowner.

Washington courts have repeatedly held that a landowner does not owe a duty to protect a tenant or guests from open and obvious dangers. Frobig v. Gordon, 124 Wash. 2d 732, 735, 881 P.2d 226 (1994). A landowner "is not the insurer of all those who may enter or pass by his land." Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assoc., 116 Wash. 2d. 217, 233, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991). In this case, Mr. Goetsch was fully aware of the area in question. It was all open and obvious. evidence presented to the contrary. There was no Additionally, Mr. Goetsch did not present evidence that he would fail to protect himself. In the absence of this evidence, the trial court correctly concluded there were no genuine issues of material fact when it granted summary dismissal.

C. The Record Is Devoid of Any Evidence Warranting Application of *Mihaila*.

The Court of Appeals relies almost entirely on *Mihaila* v. *Troth*, 21 Wash. App. 2d 227, 505 P.3d 163 (2022) to conclude that Mr. Allen should have expected physical harm to

a professional electrician walking down a slopping yard. For several reasons, *Mihaila* is not applicable.

First, and foremost, in *Mihaila*, there was an admittedly a dangerous rod protruding above the ground. The court specifically focused on the fact that Mihaila "could not eliminate the dangerous condition and would proceed to encounter the grounding rod despite the danger in order to complete the roof job because the advantage – getting paid for the job – outweighed the risk." *Id.* at 236. The court specifically noted that conclusion was based upon Mihaila's declaration that he could not complete the job without encountering the grounding rod in order to get paid for the job. *Id.*

In this case, there is no declaration from Mr. Goetsch indicating he could not have avoided the alleged dangerous condition or that he chose to still encounter the risk because he needed to complete his work and get paid. The record is clear that Goetsch was not trying to complete a job, rather he was just about to start it. Further, Mr. Goetsch admits he could have

gone around the other side of the house and avoided the rounded descent entirely which he did after the incident. As such, the crucial fact question presented in *Mihaila* is not present in this case.

Second, Mihaila offered the testimony from a safety expert who opined that the rod sticking 15-16 inches about the ground presented an unreasonably hazardous and dangerous condition. *Id.* at 231. This created a question of fact regarding safety. In this case, there is no safety expert opinion creating any question of fact.

The *Mihaila* decision rests upon a discrete exception to the general rule that a landowner is not liable to an invitee for dangers that are obvious. In order to avail himself of this exception, plaintiff was required to present specific evidence to create a question of fact. He failed to do so. As such, Summary Judgment was appropriate. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals inferred that "Allen had reason to expect Goetsch would choose to encounter the presumed danger posed by the hill because

Goetsch wanted to finish the job and get paid". Goetsch v. Allen, p. 9. Again, the record contains no such facts that would allow this inference to be made. All contractors want to "finish and job and get paid". The Court of Appeals ruling means that virtually all landowners now owe a duty to invitee-contractors even when the condition is open and obvious under all circumstances.

Finally, the slope, hill, or rounded descent was a "natural condition". A licensee's full understanding that a natural condition is dangerous ends any liability of the landowner for the condition. *Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc'y*, 124 Wn.2d 121, 134, 875 P.2d 621 (1994). Mr. Goetsch is a competent adult that is charged with the basic understanding of the condition on Mr. Allen's property and had successfully navigated it at least once prior. To the extent the Court finds the condition dangerous it must also conclude the yard was an open and obvious natural condition thereby ending the analysis. In *Mihaila*, the landowner's "protruding grounding rods" were not

part of a natural condition. *Mihaila* at 229. Mr. Allen owed no duty to Mr. Goetsch.

The Court of Appeals acknowledges that Allen had visually observed Goetsch successfully navigate the slope at least once prior and would have no reason to believe that he could not do so again in the future. The record is absent Goetsch complaining of the condition, asking for an alternate route, or informing Allen he would have to take this path with heavy equipment. The record is moreover devoid of evidence that Goetsch did not understand how gravity works.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the above arguments and authorities, David Allen respectfully requests this Court grant his Petition for Review and reverse the Court of Appeal's decision.

I certify that this memorandum contains 2,873 words, in compliance with the RAP18.17.