FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/7/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1035349

Court of Appeals No. 59348-3-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID ALLEN,

Petitioners,

v.

PAUL GOETSCH,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID P. HORTON, WSBA #27123 MEG M. HAAS, WSBA #60314 ATTORNEYS FOR PAUL GOETSCH, AS APPELLANT KITSAP LAW GROUP 3212 NW BYRON STREET # 101 SILVERDALE, WASHINGTON 98383 TEL: 360-692-6415 Attorneys for Respondent

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Respondent, Paul Goetsch, was the Plaintiff in the Kitsap County trial court proceedings. Respondent requests this Court deny David Allen's Petition for Review.

II. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court when, in determining there is a genuine issue of material fact to survive summary judgment, it applies Washington's longstanding legal framework for premises liability to the facts?
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals decision involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court when, in determining there is a genuine issue of material fact to survive summary judgment, it applies Washington's

3. longstanding legal framework for premises liability to the facts?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellate decision correctly sets forth the relevant facts and procedure. The facts most critical to Mr. Allen's petition for review are summarized, for the convenience of the Court:

Mr. Allen hired Mr. Goetsch to perform electrical work in a pool house on his property. CP 27 (12:12-25).

Mr. Allen's pool house is on a hill that is bare, dry, and without much vegetation so the soil was loose on top. CP 28 (15:6-17:8); CP 30 (25:7-10).

Both parties had commented that the hill was steep and difficult to descend. CP 28 (18:21-19:9)

Mr. Allen always planned to install stairs into the hill. CP 69 (20:22-23).

Mr. Goetsch fell down the hill while carrying a heavy drill during the performance of his work for Mr. Allen. CP 30-31.

IV. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Review should be denied because Mr. Allen fails to meet the standards in Rule of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") 13.4(b) for granting a petition for review.

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will grant a petition for review only when:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Mr. Allen identifies RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(4) as a

basis for review but his arguments do not show he has met either standard.

Rather than showing how the Court of Appeals decisions conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or how it involves an issue of substantial public interest, Mr. Allen argues the appellate court decision is inherently wrong or is distinguishable from other appellate decisions. These are not sufficient or proper bases for review. Review should be denied.

A. <u>THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS NOT IN</u> <u>CONFLICT WITH ANY DECISION BY THE</u> <u>SUPREME COURT.</u>

Review should be denied because Petitioner fails to show that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court.

Rather than directly address this criteria, Mr. Allen asserts that review is justified for numerous other reasons.

i. Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with another case because it does not "broaden" an exception to premises liability

Petitioner asserts that the Court of Appeals decision "broadens" the exception to the general principle under Washington law that a landowner is not liable for harm caused by open and obvious conditions. The first flaw in Petitioner's argument is this argument *identifies no Supreme* <u>Court decision in conflict with appellate court decision</u>. Beyond this dispositive deficiency, Petitioner's argument also fails because the Court of Appeals decision does not "broaden" any exception to premises liability. The Court of Appeals merely considered the facts of the case under Washington's wellestablished framework for premises liability and determined that there was a genuine issue of fact for trial. That Mr. Allen disagrees with the appellate court decision is not a basis for this Court to accept review.

> a. No conflict – Mr. Allen merely disagrees that there is a genuine issue of material fact that Mr. Allen should expect Mr. Goetsch to choose to encounter the dangerous condition

Under Washington law, landowners typically have no duty to protect invitees from open and obvious dangers. *Sjogren v. Props. of Pac. Nw.*, LLC, 118 Wn. App. 144, 148-49, 75 P.3d 592 (2003). One exception to this rule is when the landowner has reason to (1) expect that an invitees' attention may be distracted, such that the invitee will not discover what is obvious or will forget what the invitee has discovered, or fail to protect against it, and (2) anticipate that an invitee will choose to encounter the risk because, to a reasonable person in the position of the invitee, the advantages outweigh the apparent risk. *Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc.*, 124 Wn.2d 121, 139, 875 P.2d 621 (1994).

The appellate court considered the facts in the light most favorable to Mr. Goetsch and ruled those facts raised a reasonable inference that Mr. Allen could anticipate Mr. Goetsch would "choose to encounter the presumed danger posed by the hill because Goetsch wanted to finish the job and get paid." Opinion at 9. The appellate court recognized Mr. Allen hired Mr. Goetsch to perform a job on Allen's property and that job required traversing the dangerous condition at issue—the steep hill with loose soil. The determination there was a genuine issue of fact under these circumstances as to whether a reasonable landowner would anticipate that a contractor paid to perform a job would choose to encounter this condition to complete that job was a reasonable interference. The Court of Appeals ruling falls in line with the legal framework established by this Court in *Tincani* and does not broaden a landowner's liabilities for open and obvious dangers.

b. No conflict – Mr. Allen merely disagrees with inferences drawn by court

Mr. Allen argues the appellate court's decision is based only on supposition and improper inferences, rather than sufficient evidence. He accuses the court of "manufactur[ing] the idea that Goetsch" felt he had to encounter the hill because he wanted to finish the job, and criticizes the inference that Mr. Goetsch traversed the hill to finish his job and get paid. Even assuming Mr. Allen's argument is correct (which it is not – in reviewing an order on summary judgment, an appellate court is to consider all the fact and all "reasonable inferences" to be drawn from those facts per *Ellis v. City of Seattle*, 142 Wn.2d 450, 458, 13 P.3d 1065 (2000), he fails to show how the decision contradicts another Supreme Court decision. Review should not be granted.

c. No conflict – Mr. Allen merely disagrees that a hill is dangerous condition

Mr. Allen disagrees with the determination that the slope on his property was a dangerous condition. In support of this argument, Mr. Allen asserts that the opinion is inconsistent or distinguishable from of *McDonald v. Cove to Clover*, 180 Wn. App. 1, 7, 321 P. 3d 259 (2014). The *McDonald* case is not a Supreme Court ruling and, therefore, that the appellate court ruling might be distinguishable from *McDonald* is not a proper basis for review under RAP 13.4.

Further, *McDonald* involves very different facts. In *McDonald*, the condition was "wet grass" and the plaintiff was an attendee of a festival, not a contractor.

McDonald and the case at bar are in conflict. They are distinguishable on their specific facts.

d. No conflict – Mr. Allen merely disagrees about the evidence

That Mr. Goetsch had traversed the same area twice before (and that Mr. Allen had seen this on at least occasionally) and the lack of evidence of an impairment on Mr. Goetsch part *supports* the appellate court's decision. The issue was whether a reasonable landowner would anticipate that Mr. Goetsch would choose to encounter the open and obvious risk on the property. Mr. Goetsch made the decision to encounter the risk on numerous occasions (as he was motivated to complete his job and get paid). This supports the inference that he had to accept the risk to complete the job and get paid.

ii. The court of appeal decision does not conflict with *Mihalia*

Petitioner asserts that the Court of Appeals decision improperly applies the ruling of *Mihaila v. Troth*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 227, 505 P.3d 163 (2022). The first flaw in Mr. Allen's argument is that he *fails to assert or claim that the opinion conflicts with Mihaila.* He merely asserts the ruling was misapplied.

Mr. Allen's argument relies on the assertion that the facts of *Mihailia* differ from the facts here (in *Mihaila*, the condition was admitted to be dangerous, testimony from a safety expert, the specific facts in the plaintiff's declaration). This alone does not establish a conflict between the two cases.

Mr. Allen disagrees with the appellate court's determination there was sufficient evidence to raise a genuine issue of material fact. This is an improper and insufficient basis for the Supreme Court to accept review.

B. <u>THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DOES NOT</u> <u>INVOLVE AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC</u> <u>INTEREST</u>

Mr. Allen asserts that the decision "expands" the liability of landowners and that this is contrary to public policy. The decision applies the longstanding Washington framework for premises liability to the facts. The decision does not expand the premise liability of a landowner or change the legal landscape.

That Mr. Allen disagrees with the way the appellate court applied the law to the facts in reaching its determination that there is a genuine issue of material fact is not a proper basis for review.

A decision may warrant review on the basis that it involves an issue of substantial public interest if it has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts and will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue. *In re Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016). Here, the appellate court determined there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the steepness of the hill was a dangerous condition and whether Mr. Allen should have expected harm to Mr. Goetsch even given the open and obvious nature of the hill. The appellate court's decision does not alter or change the legal framework for determining premises liability issues. Rather, it merely addresses whether the particular facts of the present case are sufficient to raise a genuine issue of material fact for trial. Mr. Allen has not shown that this decision regarding the existence of a genuine issue of material fact, an issue that is highly fact specific, will affect a "number of proceedings in the lower courts."

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision that a question of material fact existed to preclude summary judgment does not conflict with a decision of this state's Supreme Court, nor involve an issue of substantial public interest that requires determination by the Supreme Court. Because none of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria is implicated to warrant a review by this Court, Mr. Allen's petition for review should be denied. I certify that this memorandum contain 1905 words, in compliance with RAP 18.17. [up to 5000 allowed]*